2007

Lawrence M. Jackson v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jackson appeals from a memorandum Decision by the Sixth District Court granting summary judgment to the defendants in a complaint for medical malpractice And Constitutional Rights violations. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this case under Utah Judicial Code § 78-2a-3(1)(a)(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The Trial Court Erred When It Refused To Rule Against The Defendants In Accordance With Uta R. Civ. P. Rule 56 (c), And (f), When The State Failed To Oppose The Plaintiff's Summary Judgment motion.
- II. The Plaintiff Is Entitled To A Summary Judgment Based Upon Constitutional Rights Violations, Because The State, And Defendant, Lisa Super Committed "Flagrant" Constitutional Rights Violations.
- III. The Trial Court Violated Plaintiff's Constitutional Rights Secured Under The U.S. Constitution Amendment XIV (Due Process & Equal Protection Clauses).
- IV. The Trial Court Violated Plaintiff's U.S. Constitution Amendment VII Rights When It Denied Plaintiff's Discovery Motions And GRAMA Records Requests For Defendant, Lisa Super's Physical Address For Purposes of Service of Process.
- V. The Trial Court Violated Plaintiff's Constitution of Utah Article I, Section 9 Rights By Denying Plaintiff's Motions for Discovery For Defendant, Lisa Super's Physical Address for purposes of Service of Process.
- VI. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion To Allow The State To Use The Martinez Report To Circumvent Uta R. Civ. P. Rule 56 (c); Thereafter Denying Plaintiff A ruling on Plaintiff's Memorandum Opposing Defendant's Motion to Be Allowed To File A Martinez Report.
- VII. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Plaintiff's Motion To Compel Discovery; And Then Proceeded To Rule Against Plaintiff On Issues That Were The Subject of The Discovery.
- VIII. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Plaintiff's Motion For Reconsideration.

6). Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, Ordinances, Rules, And Regulations Whose Interpretations Are Determinative.

1). The United States Constitution Amendment XIV: "All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof are citizens of the United States and the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges, or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law; Nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws."

2). The United States Constitution Amendment VII: "In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by jury shall be otherwise re-examined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law."

3). The United States Constitution Amendment VIII: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishment inflicted."

4). Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), 104 Stat. 337, as amended 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq. (2000 ed. and Supp II). "No qualified individual with a disability shall by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or subjected to discrimination by any such entity." § 12132 (2002 ed).

5). The Constitution of Utah Article I, Section 1: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law."

6). Constitution of Utah Article I, Section 11: "All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law,

which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this state by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party."

7). Constitution of Utah Article I section 9: "Excessive bail shall not be required; excessive fines shall not be imposed; nor shall cruel and unusual punishment be inflicted. Persons arrested or imprisoned shall not be treated with unnecessary rigor."

8). Constitution of Utah Article I, section 24: "All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation."

9). The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 56(e): "Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him."

Rule 56(f): "Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just."

10). Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 6 (a) Time (a). Computation

"In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules, by the local rules of any district court, by order of the court, or by any applicable statute, the day of the act, event, or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day of the period so computed shall be included, unless it is a Saturday, a Sunday, or a legal holiday, in which event the period runs until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, or a legal holiday. When the period of time prescribed or allowed is less than seven days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays shall be excluded in the computation."

11). Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 8 (d). Effect of Failure To Deny.

"Averments in a pleading to which a responsive pleading is required, other than those as to the amount of damages, are admitted when not denied in responsive pleading. Averments in a pleading to which no responsive pleading is required or permitted shall be taken as denied or avoided."

12). Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 9 (f). Pleading special matters.

(f). Time and Place. "For the purpose of testing the sufficiency of a pleading, averments of time and place are material and shall be considered like all other averments of material matter."

13. Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 12 (f). motion to strike. "upon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading or if no responsive pleading is permitted by these rules, upon motion made by a party within 20 days after service of the pleading upon him, the court may order stricken from any pleading any sufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter."

14). Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 34 (b) Procedure: "The request may, without leave of the court, be served upon the plaintiff after commencement of the action and upon any other party with or after service of the summons and complaint upon that party. The request shall set

forth the items to be inspected either by individual item or by category, and describe each item and category with reasonable particularity. The request shall specify a reasonable time, place, and manner of making the inspection and performing the related acts."

The party upon whom the request is served shall serve a written response within 30 days after the service of the request, except that a defendant may serve a response within 45 days after service of the summons and complaint upon that defendant. The court may allow a shorter or longer time. The response shall state, with respect to each item or category, that inspection and related activities will be permitted as requested, unless the request is objected to, in which event the reasons for objection shall be stated. If objection is made to part of an item or category, the part be specified. The party submitting the request may move for an order under Rule 37(a) with respect to any part thereof, or any failure to permit inspection as requested."

15). Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 37(a)(2): Motion. "If a deponent fails to answer a question propounded or submitted under Rule 30 or 31, or a corporation or other entity fails to make a designation under Rule 30(b)(6) or 31(a), or a party fails to answer an interrogatory submitted under Rule 33, or if a party, in response to a request for inspection submitted under Rule 34, fails to respond that inspection will be permitted as requested or fails to permit inspection as requested, the discovering party may move for an order compelling an answer, or a designation, or an order compelling inspection in accordance with the request. When taking a deposition or oral examination before he applies for an order."

7).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(Exhibits from The Memorandum In Support of Motion for Reconsideration of Court's Decision on Martinez Report are incorporated herein by reference).

1). The plaintiff herein, Lawrence M. Jackson is an insulin dependent diabetic with a medical history of having volatile bloodsugar levels and subject to frequent hypoglycemic reactions while incarcerated in the Utah State Prison.

While incarcerated at the Utah State Prison, the plaintiff was frequently denied medically prescribed supplemental foodstuffs, and this contributed to frequent bouts with hypoglycemia. In about August 22, 2001, the plaintiff was denied a dose of insulin because the plaintiff had an injured foot with gross swelling so much so as to prevent the plaintiff from wearing both shoes. At the pill-line, a Corridor monitoring official denied plaintiff access to life-preserving medication, (insulin), because the plaintiff could not comply with the prison's dress code, (two pair shoes). The plaintiff filed a Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 65A (injunction), in the Third District Court. see: Exhibit B; Jackson v. Friel, 3rd Dist. Ct. Order; case # 010904240; entered: 9-12-01. After the petitioner and Respondents made their presentations and representations, the Court granted the Rule 65A injunction, and later made it permanent. The Court order has been violated both in the spirit and letter, and that with impunity. see: Exhibit 4; 3rd Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Stat'mt; pg. 3; entry: 9-11-01 (minutes on hearing), then pg. 4; entry: 1-25-02.

2). On or about 10-30-02 plaintiff was transferred from the Utah State Prison, (USP), to the Central Utah Correctional Facility, (CUCF).

3). Shortly after arrival at (CUCF), plaintiff encountered a physician in the (CUCF) medical Department, Dr. Burnham, who was extremely rude and arbitrary in that Dr. Burnham, without any physical examination, decided that the "bottom bunk clearance, (for chronic back pain), was not valid at (CUCF), and that plaintiff did not meet the criteria for the bottom bunk clearance." Plaintiff thereafter refused to see Dr. Burnham. Dr. Burnham. This physician resolved to allow plaintiff's prescription for insulin, (AM prescription of insulin), to lapse for my refusal to consult with him. see: Exhibit C (3) Department of Corrections, hereinafter, DOC; Medical Dept. med. charts; entry: 12-10-02. see also: C (2) same charts; entry: 11-12-02.

4). Upon inquiry into why my prescription had lapsed, (Dr. Burnham never told me that he refused to renew the prescription), I told medical personnel that I have a Court order mandating treatment, but this was met with indifference and contempt. see: Exhibit C (5); DOC med. chs; entry: 12-21-02; and see: Exhibit C (4) entry date: 12-21-02.

5). A Registered Nurse, Mr. Steven S. Fitzgerald arranged for me to see the Physician's Assistant, Barbara Mitten, PAC who renewed the prescription for AM insulin which was 15 units Regular insulin, and 30 units NPH insulin. see: Exhibit C (6), DOC med. chs; entry: 12-27-02.

6). The prescription was brought into question by a Nurse, Lisa Soper who, upon her discovery of a discrepancy respecting the AM insulin prescription denied plaintiff the prescribed dose of insulin, and ordered plaintiff to take only 7 units regular and 30 units NPH insulin. Since the prescription was actually 15 units Regular and 30 units NPH, the plaintiff refused, and requested to see the health care providers, preferably Barbara Mitten, PAC, when the plaintiff discontinued taking the lesser amount of insulin, plaintiff also stopped eating. The reason for not eating, is to avoid "hyperglycemia", a condition that happens when one has excessively high bloodsugar levels. Although plaintiff made several requests over a five day period, plaintiff verbally and wrote requests to see a healthcare provider but was denied.

7). On or about November 9, 2003, at approximately 3:30 am plaintiff got out of the bunk to use the toilet. When plaintiff was returning to the bunk, plaintiff suddenly lost consciousness, and fell. On the way down to the floor, plaintiff's left side of the face struck a thick metal stool that was embedded in the cement floor, and sustained grievous injury including crushed left cheek bone; fracture of left orbital socket (floor) eye socket and tissue became entrapped in the fracture causing severe double vision, this injury was extremely painful, plaintiff suffered from constant nausea extreme headaches tremendous swelling over the left side of my face and head. Plaintiff also sustained lacerations above and below the left eye. The left eye was also forced back into plaintiff's orbital socket also making sight next to impossible to see.

8). After the injury the plaintiff was denied pain medication, and was delayed access to a surgical procedure that could have restored the plaintiff's vision less the double-vision which after unnecessary delay, the double-vision has since become permanent. The plaintiff also has some numbness around the left eye and nostril. The plaintiff also have frequent headaches, and has since developed glaucoma, which the ophthalmologist suspects is the result from trauma to the left eye. This condition is also permanent, and requires a prescribed solution (2 types) three times daily for life.

A). COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

1). On 11-17-04 the plaintiff filed a complaint for medical malpractice and Constitutional Rights Violations. See: 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt, pg. 1; entry: 11-17-04, Exhibit F, 6th Dist. Ct. Dock Evt. Statmt, pg. 2.

2). On 1-20-05 The Court entered a "Notice to be served", directing the Defendants to answer the complaint. See: Exhibit F, Dock. Evt. Statmt, pg. 2.

3). The State, on 2-16-05 filed a motion to Dismiss pursuant to Ct. R. (iv. P. Rule 12(b)(6). See: Attached hereto; Exhibit 12; see also: 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt, pg. 1.

4). On 1-6-06 the court entered a memorandum Decision denying in part, and dismissing in part the state's motion to Dismiss. The Court again directed the State to answer the Amended Complaint. See: Exhibit G; 6th Dist. Ct. memo. Decis.; entered: 1-6-06.

5). On 4-28-06 the State filed its answer to the Amended Complaint. See: Exhibit F; 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt, pg. 3.

6). The State then, on 5-12-06 filed a motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (this motion contended that the state enjoys sovereign immunity and therefore the plaintiff's complaint should be dismissed). See: Exhibit P; St. memo. in Supp. St. mot. Judgment on Pl.; see also: Exhibit F, 6th Dist. Ct. Dock Evt. Statmt, pg. 3; entry: 5-12-06.

7). Based upon the state's answer to the Amended complaint, and the judgment on the Pleadings motion, the plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment on 6-8-06. see: Exhibit F; 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt; pg 3. see also Exhibit W, Pl. Mot. Summary Judgment on 6-8-06.

8). Then, on 7-13-06 the state files a request to Submit for decision (on the motion for judgment on the Pleadings), and a request to stay briefing on the plaintiff's summary judgment motion until the court has ruled on the motion for judgment on the Pleadings. see: Exhibit F; 6th Dist. Ct. Dock Evt Statmt; pg. 3; entry: 7-13-06.

9). On 8-4-06 the court enters an order staying the briefing on the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. (The Order provided that: "If the state's motion for judgment on the Pleadings is denied, then the state must file its memorandum opposing plaintiff's summary judgment within thirty days of the court's ruling"). Exhibit F; pg. 4, and see: Exhibit H; 6th Dist. Ct. Ord. Stay Br. on Pl. Mot. Summary Judgment; entered on: 8-4-06.

10). The court entered a memorandum Decision on 9-28-06 denying the state's motion for judgment on the Pleadings. see: Exhibit F; 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt; pg. 4; entry: 9-28-06.

11). The plaintiff had filed a motion for Reconsideration of the court's ruling in the 1-6-06 memorandum Decision respecting the U.S. Constitution Amendment VIII violation issue. see: Exhibit G; 6th Dist. Ct. memo. Dec's.; entered on: 1-6-06; pg. 7-8; see also: Exhibit 6; Pl. memc. In Supp. Mot. Reconsid. Ct's Ruling & leave to Amend Compl.; entered: 7-19-06.

12). On or about 11-10-06 the state approached the plaintiff with a "Joint motion And Stipulation" ostensibly to resolve outstanding motions that were then before the court.

13). The real reasons for the stipulation and Joint motion was realized, the plaintiff moved the court to strike the joint motion & stipulation. see: Exhibit F; 6th Dist. Ct. Dock. Evt. Statmt; pg. 5; entry: 11-17-06; and 12-06-06; see also: Exhibit C; Pl. Mot. Str. Dec. Joint Mot. & Stip.; and Exhibit R; Pl.

memo, In Reply Def's memo, In Opp. Pl. Mot. Str. Joint Mot & Stip.; dated 2-6-07.

14). On 12-13-06 the court entered a memorandum Decision granting the majority of plaintiffs' outstanding motions thus negating the joint motion and stipulation. The court also ruled on plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration of the court's memorandum Decision of 1-6-06, respecting the U.S. Constitution Amendment VIII issue against the state. Exhibit F, 6th Dist. Dock Ent, Statmt; pg. 5; see also: Exhibit 6.

15). The State arranged for a Telephone conference between the court and the parties on 12-20-06 in order to make a record concerning the "Joint Motion And Stipulation" subsequent to plaintiff writing a letter to the state attorney, and to the court detailing fraud and misrepresentation on the part of the Attorney General's Office. see: Exhibit K: Def's trans. of 12-20-06 telephone confer.

16). At the telephone conference the court granted the plaintiff a (30) thirty day time in which to Amend the Amended complaint, and file a Supplement thereto. The court set dates that the plaintiff would tentatively "renew" the pending motion for summary judgment to include the supplemental Pleadings. Exhibit K; Def. Trans. of teleph. confer.; pg. 4, para. 6.

17). On 1-2-07, the plaintiff filed a motion together with a supporting memorandum to strike the "Joint Motion And Stipulation", consistent with plaintiffs' representations to the court in the 12-20-06 teleph. confer. See: Exhibit K; Def. Trans. of 12-20-06 Teleph. confer.; pg 3; para. 3.

18). The State filed an answer to the Supplemental Pleadings on 1-4-07 even before it was due, or even before I filed the Supplement. See: Exhibit F; entry 1-4-07.

19). The plaintiff filed the Amended Complaint on 1-16-07. Exhibit F; pg. 6

20). Additionally, on 1-16-07 plaintiff filed the Supplemental Pleadings, Exhibit F; pg. 6.

21). The state filed a memorandum in opposition to plaintiff's motion to strike Defendant's Joint Motion And Stipulation on 1-25-07. see: Exhibit F; pg. 6.

22). The state then files an answer to the Amended Complaint on 1-31-07. Exhibit F; pg. 6; see also: state et al. Ans. to 2nd Amend Compl. tabled here in Exhibit 13.

23). The plaintiff filed a memorandum in Reply to State's Answer to the plaintiff's Supplemental Pleadings. Exhibit F, pg. 6; entry: 2-26-07

24). The plaintiff also filed a memorandum in Reply to Defendant's memorandum in opposition to Plaintiff's motion to strike Joint Motion And Stipulation on 2-26-07. Exhibit F; pg. 6; see also: 6th Dist. Ct. Judmt Roll & Index, entry date: 12-24-07, 962-1027.

25). The state filed a motion requesting that the state be allowed to file a Martinez Report and that all proceedings are stayed until the Martinez Report is filed, Also that the court construe the Martinez Report as a motion for Summary Judgment, on 3-15-07. see: Exhibit F; pg. 6; see also: Exhibit N; Def. memo. in Opp. Pl. mot. to Compel Discovery and in Supp. of mot. Martz Rept.

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