2007

Lawrence M. Jackson v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Spackman v. Bd. of Educ., 2000 UT 87, 16 P.3d 533) (emphasis added).

Deliberate indifference “is a stringent standard of fault.” *Bd. of County Comm’rs v. Brown*, 520 U.S. 397, 410 (1997). The deliberate indifference standard “differentiates between inadvertent misconduct, which does not give rise to liability . . . and the ‘unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain,’ which does.” *Bott*, 922 P.2d at 740 (quoting *Estelle v. Gamble*, 429 U.S. 97, 105 (1976)); see also *Brown*, 520 U.S. at 407 (“A showing of simple or even heightened negligence will not suffice.”).

Similarly, to prevail under the unnecessary rigor clause, an inmate must show extraordinary conduct. “[S]imple negligence is not sufficient justification for a damage claim” under unnecessary rigor. *Bott*, 922 P.2d at 738. Unnecessary rigor is, instead, a “difficult standard” that few inmates will be able to meet and requires a showing of “unnecessary abuse.” *Id.* at 744. Such abuse is “needlessly harsh, degrading, or dehumanizing treatment of prisoners.” *Id.* (internal citations and quotations omitted). The alleged treatment must be “clearly excessive or deficient and unjustified.” *Id.* at 741.

Here, the trial court correctly found that the material facts were not in dispute. As identified by the court, those facts were:

[T]he plaintiff was given a certain amount of insulin. The nurse believed it was the correct amount. Even if she was wrong, she did not refuse to give it to him. The plaintiff himself refused to

take the offered insulin because he believed it was the wrong amount. The plaintiff continued to refuse insulin and food for two days until he fell and injured his eye.

R. 1559. The trial court also specifically noted the important and undisputed fact that “taking too much insulin can be dangerous to a diabetic because ‘an overdose can cause insulin shock, which can be fatal.’” R. 1557. The trial court found that it could not determine Jackson’s exact insulin prescription, but even if there were a question of fact as to the exact prescription, the question was not material because medical staff never refused to give Jackson insulin.⁷ R. 1558-59. Plaintiff has demonstrated no error in the trial court’s identification of the essential, undisputed facts.

Next, based on its determination of the essential, undisputed facts, the trial court analyzed the governing law. The court concluded that the State was entitled to judgment because the State’s actions constituted neither deliberate indifference nor unnecessary rigor. R. 1558-59; 1577. The trial court’s legal conclusion was correct and should be affirmed.

⁷ Even if Nurse Soper mistakenly read Jackson’s prescribed dosage, it was, at best, negligence, which does not rise to the level of a constitutional violation. *Bott*, 922 P.2d at 738, 740; *see also Brown*, 520 U.S. at 407. And if she intentionally gave him an inaccurate dosage, his refusal to take any insulin at all is an intervening causal event. Thus, even if there were a question of fact on the prescribed dosage, that would not preclude summary judgment for the State.

Jackson argues that the State violated his rights when prison medical staff gave him a dosage of insulin with which he disagreed. But because Jackson's denial of prescribed medication and food was self-imposed, he cannot prevail on his claim.

Several factors inform the determination whether a prison official has been deliberately indifferent in providing or withholding medical treatment. First, was the prisoner subjected to "unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain;" second, did the medical staff choose an "easier and less efficacious treatment;" third, was the medical staff refusing to treat with the knowledge of the injury; and finally, was there an intentional denial or delay in access to medication or medical treatment. *Bott*, 922 P.2d at 740 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Jackson was not subjected to unnecessary and wanton pain. It is undisputed that Jackson is an insulin-dependent diabetic, who refused to take insulin when he disagreed with the dosage that the nurse at the morning pill line offered him. R. 1338. She did not refuse to give him insulin, she just refused to give him more than the amount allowed by the sliding scale. Jackson's medical records show that the nurses told Jackson that he could and should continue to take his insulin, but he simply refused to take any insulin unless the nurses gave him the dose he wanted. R. 1338. After

Jackson's initial refusal to take his insulin, he then refused to test his blood sugar levels or to allow the prison medical staff to do so. Jackson also then chose not to eat. R. 1338-40.

The nursing staff made every reasonable effort to convince Jackson to take his insulin and to test his blood sugar levels until he could see the doctor for evaluation. R. 1338-40 and 1552. The medical staff did not refuse to properly treat Jackson's diabetes. At no time was Jackson refused his insulin treatment. Instead, medical staff refused to provide him with the increased insulin dosage Jackson wanted to take. R. 1338.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that "a prison worker would not be liable for failing to administer unnecessary medical treatment desired by an inmate." *Id.* 740 (citing *Supre v. Ricketts*, 792 F.2d 958, 963 (10th Cir. 1986)); see also *U.S. v. Bryant*, 670 F. Supp. 840, 845 (D. Minn. 1987) ("[C]ourts should defer to the expertise of prison administrators and mental health professionals.") Not only were the additional units of insulin unwarranted according to the medical prescription, allowing Jackson to take too much insulin could be very dangerous. R. 1233. An overdose of insulin can be lethal. R. 1233. Under the standards set out by the Utah Supreme Court, Jackson was not treated with deliberate indifference. Nor was he subjected to

unnecessary abuse when medical staff insisted that he take an appropriate dose of insulin.

Moreover, disagreements in appropriate treatment do not rise to the level of a constitutional violation. *Estelle v. Gamble*, 429 U.S. 97, 107 (1976); *Perkins v. Kansas Dep't of Corr.*, 165 F.3d 803, 810 (10th Cir. 1999). In this case, Jackson and the prison medical staff agreed that he required insulin to treat his diabetes. But they disagreed over *how much* insulin he should take.

Furthermore, once Jackson refused to take the proper dose of insulin, medical staff were powerless to do anything. It is well-settled law that a functioning adult cannot be forced to take medication that he refuses. *See, e.g., Woodland v. Angus*, 820 F. Supp. 1497, 1504 (D. Utah 1993) (“Every human being of adult years and sound mind has a right to determine what shall be done with his own body”) (quoting *Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hosp.*, 211 N.Y. 125 (1914)); *see also Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 132-139 (1992) (holding that the enforced administration of medication during trial violates defendant’s Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights); *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 229 (1990) (“The forcible injection of medication into a nonconsenting person’s body represents a substantial interference with that person’s liberty”); *Riggins*, 504 U.S. at 155 (Thomas, J., dissenting) (“A state could violate *Harper* by forcibly administering *any* kind of medication.”).

Jackson claims that the State is liable for injuries he sustained as a result of his refusal to take prescribed medication. But the State cannot force a prisoner to take medication against his will. *See also Winston v. Lee*, 470 U.S. 753 (1985); *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 772 (1966). Jackson chose not to take his insulin because he could not take the dose he wanted. He then refused to test his blood sugar levels, refused to eat or take any insulin. R. 1338-40. Jackson, not the State, chose an “easier and less efficacious treatment” when he refused to fill out an HCR and failed to take his insulin.

Relying on *Boretti v. Wiscomb*, 930 F.2d 1150 (6th Cir. 1991), Jackson argues that the trial court erred because, by failing to give Jackson the amount of insulin that he believed was correct, Nurse Soper interfered with his prescribed treatment plan and therefore violated his rights. Appt.’s Brief at p. 40.

Jackson’s reliance on *Boretti* is misplaced. In that case, the plaintiff suffered a gunshot wound while he was an escapee. *Id.* at 1151. His treating physician prescribed a pain reliever and directed that the wound be dressed daily. When he was returned to custody, Plaintiff claimed that he complained to a nurse that he was in severe pain and that the bandages covering his wound were dirty. Allegedly, the nurse flatly refused to do anything for the plaintiff or to inform a doctor about his need for treatment. *Id.* at 1152.

Meanwhile, the plaintiff resorted to cleaning his wound with soap and water and dressing the wound with toilet paper. The *Boretti* court reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment, holding that there was an issue of material fact about whether the nurse was deliberately indifferent to the plaintiff's medical needs. *Id.* at 1154.

The facts in *Boretti* are vastly different from the facts here. There the nurse refused to provide any type of medical attention to the plaintiff or to report his medical needs to a doctor. Jackson, on the other hand, was provided insulin and refused to take it. Then he began to refuse to test his blood sugar levels or allow any medical staff to do so. Medical staff could not treat his diabetes due to Jackson's refusal for treatment. Moreover, it is undisputed that Jackson had access to medical providers and knew how to request an appointment with the doctor if he felt that his insulin dosage was incorrect. R. 1411-51.

The State did not treat Jackson with deliberate indifference or unnecessary rigor. Any "unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain" in this case was self-inflicted. Jackson's own recalcitrance caused his injury. The trial court properly granted summary judgment to the State, and this Court should affirm the decision.

II. The Trial Court's Interlocutory Rulings and Decisions Respecting the Conduct of Litigation Should Be Affirmed.

A. This Court Should Affirm the Denial of Jackson's GRAMA Request.

Jackson argues that the trial court violated his federal constitutional rights under the Seventh Amendment and his state constitutional rights under Article I, § 9 by denying his GRAMA request for Nurse Soper's home address.⁸ The claim fails on several grounds.

First, appellate courts refuse to hear arguments made for the first time on appeal. *E.g., Espinal v. Salt Lake City Bd. of Educ.*, 797 P.2d 412, 413 (Utah 1990); *State v. Archambeau*, 820 P.2d 920, 922 (UT App. 1991). The rule applies equally to constitutional questions. *State v. Anderson*, 789 P.2d 27, 29 (Utah 1990); *Archambeau*, 820 P.2d at 922. Jackson neither argued nor properly preserved those issues before the trial court and cannot raise them now. An issue is properly raised in the trial court if it: 1) was raised in a timely fashion; 2) was specifically raised; and 3) was supported by evidence or legal authority. *Hatch v. Davis*, 2004 UT App. 378, ¶ 56, 102 P.3d 744.

⁸ The State argued that Jackson's petition for judicial review under GRAMA, could not be filed in Jackson's civil rights lawsuit, but instead had to be filed as a separate petition. R. 1188-90. But the trial court examined the issue on the merits.

Here, Jackson argued that the Department of Corrections improperly denied his GRAMA request, but never argued that the denial violated either the Seventh Amendment or Article I, § 9. Jackson failed to preserve the issues. Moreover, Jackson fails to argue that plain error or exceptional circumstances excuse his failure to raise the issue below,⁹ and he has now waived that opportunity. *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 23, 16 P.3d 540 (arguments not presented in the opening brief are waived and will not be considered by the appellate court). Because Jackson raises the issues for the first time on appeal, this Court should refuse to hear them.

Second, and closely related, Jackson fails to brief how the trial court erred in its review of the GRAMA request. GRAMA allows disclosure of private, protected, or controlled records if the court determines that the “interest favoring access outweighs the interest favoring restriction to access.” Utah Code Ann. 63-2-404 (8)(a) (West 2004). The trial court

⁹ Jackson’s brief fails to provide the Court with the proper standards of review required by Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5). And it fails to provide the Court with citations “to the record showing that [each] issue was preserved in the trial court” or “a statement of the grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5) (A), (B). That alone is sufficient grounds for this Court to assume the correctness of the trial court’s decision and affirm the trial court. *E.g.*, *State v. Green*, 2004 UT 76, ¶ 15, 99 P.3d 820; *Koulis v. Standard Oil Co.*, 746 P.2d 1182, 1184 (UT App. 1987).

examined the competing policies of the public's right to access to information concerning the public's business and the right to privacy to personal data that is collected by the government. R. 1552. The trial court concluded that the right to privacy outweighed Jackson's interests. The court explained the balancing of interests and the need for protecting prison employees from having personal information disclosed:

A former government employee is entitled to have assurance that his or her personal information will not be released. This applies especially to employees who work within high-risk facilities such as prisons. *A prison employee's personal information must be protected from access by inmates* the employee knew and encountered in the course of employment.

R. 1552. (Emphasis added). The court found it significant that Jackson's interest was not to obtain information regarding the "conduct of the public's business but to obtain the home address of a former governmental employee in order to sue her." R. 1552-53.

Jackson fails to show how the trial court erred in balancing the competing interests. That failure alone is enough for this Court to affirm the trial court. *Dep't of Human Servs. v. Schwartz*, 2003 UT App. 406, *1. (per curiam) (pro se party who failed to brief how the trial court erred in the balancing of interests favoring and opposing disclosure of private information waived the argument); *see also Glover*, 2000 UT 89 at ¶ 23; *State v. Green*,

2004 UT 76, ¶ 15, 99 P.3d 820; *State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 305 (Utah 1998) *Koulis v. Standard Oil Co.*, 746 P.2d 1182, 1185 (UT App. 1987); *Burns v. Summerhays*, 927 P.2d 197, 199 (UT App. 1996).

Third, denial of Jackson's GRAMA request violates neither the Seventh Amendment nor Article I, § 9, and even if the trial court should have ordered the State to provide Jackson with Nurse Soper's address, the error is harmless. The Seventh Amendment has never been interpreted in a rigid manner. Many procedural devices developed after 1791 and that have diminished the jury's historic domain have been found not to violate the Seventh Amendment. *Parlane Hosiery Co., Inc., v. Shore*, 439 U.S. 322, 337 (1979); *e.g.*, *Galloway v. U.S.*, 319 U.S. 372, 388-93 (1943) (directed verdict does not violate Seventh Amendment); *Fidelity & Deposit Co. v. U.S.*, 187 U.S. 315, 319-21 (1902) (summary judgment does not violate Seventh Amendment). The amendment does not provide the right to sue a particular individual.

Similarly, Article I, § 9 does not provide the right to sue a particular defendant. Article I, § 9 rights are not unduly burdened by GRAMA because GRAMA does not provide immunity from suit; it governs the disclosure of government records. Jackson had the opportunity to vindicate his Article I, § 9 rights. His claims against the State and those against Nurse Soper were

identical and based on identical facts. The trial court examined the claims on the merits and concluded that there was no state constitutional violation. Thus, even if the court should have ordered the State to provide Jackson with Soper's address, for purposes of service of process, it was harmless error.

B. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed the State to file a *Martinez* Report.

Appellate courts grant “[a] trial judge . . . broad discretion in determining how a [case] shall proceed in his or her courtroom.” *Hartford Leasing Corp. v. State*, 888 P.2d 694, 702 (UT App. 1994) (alteration in original); *Tschaggeny v. Millbank Ins. Co.*, 2007 UT 37, ¶ 16, 163 P.3d 615; *Univ. of Utah v. Indus. Comm’n*, 736 P.2d 630, 633 (Utah 1987); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 78-7-5(3) (West 2004) (court has authority to “provide for the orderly conduct of proceedings before it or its officers.”) (now codified as 78A-2-201). In this case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed the State to file a *Martinez* report.

A *Martinez* report is a document that a state department of corrections typically files when an inmate has sued either the department or one of its employees alleging constitutional violations. *Martinez v. Aaron*, 570 F.2d 317, 319 (10th Cir. 1978). In addition to helping the court determine if it has

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